
 
 
 

 

 

 

To:  Common Council  
From: John Weidl, City Manager 
Date: 2/10/2025 
Re:   Analysis of Whitewater’s Development Incentives 
 
 
Council Members, 

 
As we continue discussions regarding residential development, I want to provide a direct 

comparison between our Tax Incremental Financing (TIF) assistance and that of the Village of 
Waterford, also working with Neumann to develop a subdivision. That development agreement is 
attached. This analysis includes Bielinski Homes, the Park Crest subdivision, and Whitewater 
Moraine View LLC, demonstrating that Whitewater’s incentives are competitive, reasonable, and 
financially responsible while supporting strategic residential growth. Further, attached is an 
analysis from Tracy Cross and Associates relative to their recommendations regarding TIF 
incentives in the two studies they prepared for the City of Whitewater. 
 

TIF Assistance – Competitive and Financially Prudent 
 
Whitewater’s development agreements have consistently followed a structured TIF incentive 
model, tailored to the project type. 
 

Bielinski Homes and Park Crest (Neumann Developments) have been offered 90% TIF assistance, 
mirroring the Village of Waterford’s approach. This ensures that developers can recover eligible 
infrastructure and site costs while maintaining a strong tax base for the City in the long run. 

 
Whitewater Moraine View LLC, a multi-family development, received a tiered TIF incentive—85% 
for the first 10 years and 60% thereafter. This lower percentage reflects the higher taxable value 

and revenue potential of multi-family housing compared to single-family development, ensuring a 
balanced approach to municipal incentives. 

 
Waterford structured its TIF rebate at 90% of the generated increment, capped at $9.048 million, 

providing a fixed financial commitment over the district’s lifespan. 
 
Whitewater’s structure ensures that tax increment benefits are proportionate to the project type, 
making it financially sustainable while remaining competitive. 
 

Zoning, Administrative, and Planning Support 
 
Beyond direct financial incentives, both Whitewater and Waterford provide zoning and regulatory 
support to facilitate development. Whitewater is working with Ehlers to amend the TIF district 



 
 
 

 

 

and project plan for the Bielinski Homes development, ensuring statutory compliance while 

optimizing financial feasibility. Additionally, Whitewater has demonstrated flexibility and 
adaptability, as seen in the Moraine View LLC agreement amendment, which facilitated a 
developer transition while maintaining project viability. 
 
Similarly, Waterford provided zoning and PUD amendments to ensure their development aligns 
with municipal growth plans. Both municipalities recognize that successful development requires 
proactive planning assistance in addition to financial incentives. 

 
Infrastructure and Impact Fees 

 
A notable distinction between Whitewater and Waterford is how infrastructure costs and impact 
fees are handled. Waterford waived park impact fees in exchange for land dedication, creating an 
up-front incentive that directly reduces costs for developers. 
 
Whitewater, by contrast, does not offer outright fee waivers but allows infrastructure costs to be 
reimbursed through TIF-eligible expenses. This approach ensures that incentives are directly 
linked to development costs rather than providing automatic subsidies, maintaining greater fiscal 

oversight and control for the City. 
 
By structuring incentives this way, Whitewater retains the ability to support development without 
assuming unnecessary financial risk, ensuring that TIF resources are allocated effectively and 
equitably across projects. 

 
Process and Long-Term Commitment 
 

Waterford formalized its development incentive package through a fully executed Development 
Agreement, locking in commitments for the entire project term. Whitewater, on the other hand, 
utilizes a phased approach—beginning with a Letter of Intent (LOI) before finalizing a 

Development Agreement. 
 

This structured approach allows Whitewater to evaluate financial and regulatory impacts before 
making binding commitments, ensuring that incentives are aligned with the City’s long-term 

interests. Additionally, Whitewater’s ability to amend agreements mid-project, as demonstrated 
with the Moraine View LLC adjustment, reflects a pragmatic, adaptable strategy that maintains 
developer confidence while protecting municipal resources. 
 
Clarification on Housing Study Incentive Considerations 

 
The clarification letter from Tracy Cross & Associates reinforces that the housing studies 
conducted for the City of Whitewater did not explicitly recommend incentives but instead 
acknowledged that incentives might need to be considered depending on project feasibility. Their 



 
 
 

 

 

June 2023 report suggested that TIF assistance or land cost relief could be potential tools to 

support for-sale housing products if necessary. The April 2024 report adjusted its stance slightly, 
recognizing that rising construction costs could make incentives more relevant for rental housing, 
though they still did not view them as an absolute requirement. The overall message is that 
incentives should only be applied if a financial gap exists that prevents development from aligning 
with market feasibility. 
 
Furthermore, the letter emphasizes that public-private partnerships involving TIF, land subsidies, 

or other financial tools are commonly used across Wisconsin and the broader Midwest to help 
bridge cost gaps in housing development. However, it reiterates that any incentive decisions 

should be based on thorough analysis between the City and developers to ensure they are 
necessary and appropriately structured. This aligns with Whitewater’s approach, which offers 
incentives where needed but ensures fiscal responsibility and market alignment in every 
agreement. 
 
Conclusion: Whitewater’s Incentives Are Competitive and Responsible 
 
A direct comparison with Waterford confirms that Whitewater’s TIF assistance and development 

incentives are well within industry norms. Our approach balances strong financial incentives with 
fiscal responsibility, ensuring that new development contributes to Whitewater’s growth without 
creating undue financial risk. 
 
Our TIF participation structure achieves three primary goals: 

 
1. Encouraging Growth – Offering 90% TIF assistance for single-family developments ensures 

projects remain financially viable. 

 
2. Balancing Municipal Interests – Tiered TIF incentives for multi-family developments (85% 

for 10 years, then 60%) create a sustainable revenue model while still supporting 

developers. 
 

3. Providing Oversight and Flexibility – Ensuring zoning, TIF amendments, and regulatory 
adjustments align with long-term City interests, while maintaining the ability to adjust 

agreements as needed. 
 
Whitewater’s development incentives are both competitive and fiscally sustainable, ensuring that 
we remain an attractive partner for residential growth while safeguarding the City’s financial 
health.  

 
I recommend proceeding with our current  TIF strategy, as it effectively balances financial 
sustainability with growth and welcome any questions or further discussion on this matter. 
 



 
 
 

 

 

 

Warmest Regards, 
 

 
John S. Weidl, City Manager 
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February 7, 2025 
 
Mr. John Weidl  
City Manager 
City of Whitewater 
312 W. Whitewater Street 
Whitewater, WI 53190 
 
Dear Mr. Weidl: 
 
Provided below are the two references made regarding potential incentives in the housing studies prepared 
on behalf of the City of Whitewater, one dated June 30,2023 and the other April 12, 2024.   
 

JUNE 30, 2023: PAGE 20 
 

Even with a disciplined planning and design approach, it is possible that some incentives 
or concessions might also be necessary to bring the for sale products (as positioned) to 
market.  This will need to be determined through the planning process but may include some 
form of land cost relief (if possible), Tax Increment Financing (TIF) assistance or something 
similar.  For the rental products, it is unlikely that incentives/concessions would be required 
at benchmark rents. 

 
APRIL 12, 2024: PAGE 15 

 
It is possible that the City of Whitewater will need to consider some type of incentive or 
concession to help bring properly positioned rental housing product to market.  While this 
will be determined through the planning process, it is something to consider.  With this said, 
however, it is unlikely that abnormal incentives/concessions would be required as the 
established benchmark rents are generally consistent with new/newer market comparables, 
although rising construction costs may require some assistance in this regard.  An example 
of incentives being utilized by other municipalities to bridge the gap between costs and 
“needed” rents include Tax Increment Financing (TIF) and/or land subsidies or land 
subordination, i.e., reducing the cost of land. 

 
The incentive references outlined in our two reports (as depicted above) make it very clear that we are not 
recommending incentives but rather suggesting that incentives might need to be considered in order to 
allow new housing product to meet the price points and/or rents outlined in the studies.  In other words, we 
are simply suggesting in each report that incentives be considered should it become apparent (by working 
with a builder/developer) that the costs associated with a development are too high to meet the suggested 
price points/rent levels recommended. 
 
Additionally, the only real difference in phraseology between the two reports is that in 2023, we felt it unlikely 
that incentives would be necessary for rental housing products on the basis of costs versus rent positioning 
at the time.  A year later, in 2024, and because costs continued to rise, we suggested that they might be 
necessary, but nothing abnormal. 
 
 
 
 
 



Mr. John Weidl 
RE:  Whitewater Housing Study Clarification 
February 7, 2025 
Page 2 
 
 

 
  TRACY CROSS & ASSOCIATES, INC. 

Finally, the reason incentive references were made in each report (and should be a consideration) is 
because this public/private partnership arrangement is occurring in other areas throughout Wisconsin (and 
the greater Midwest for that matter) to bridge the gap between cost and meeting the demands of the market 
relative to price/rent positioning based, primarily, on incomes.  Again, the use of incentives is at the 
discretion of the municipality and should be based upon a high degree of analysis (between the municipality 
and the builder/developer) to determine proper implementation – if implementation is needed at all. 
 
 
Respectfully submitted, 
 
TRACY CROSS & ASSOCIATES, INC. 
An Illinois Corporation 
 
By:________________________ 
Erik A. Doersching  
Its: President & CEO 
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